Core Competencies for Adolescent Sexual & Reproductive Health

September, 2008 Core Competencies Subcommittee of the California Adolescent Sexual Health Work Group (ASHWG) The Core Competencies report was developed by the Core Competencies Subcommittee of the California Adolescent Sexual Health Working Group, an association of public and private-sector professionals with a shared interest in developing the capabilities of adult providers of adolescent sexual and reproductive health services. The members of the Subcommittee are listed at the end of the report. The views expressed in the Core Competencies report do not necessarily represent the official position of the institutions that the members of ASHWG or the Subcommittee are affiliated with, or the institutions that provided financial support for the development of the report. The Core Competencies report is available to the public in a downloadable format at the California Adolescent Health Collaborative website: http://www.californiateenhealth.org/CC registration.php

The California Adolescent Health Collaborative is a statewide coalition of representatives from public and private agencies committed to a comprehensive, asset-based, multidisciplinary approach to improving the health and well-being of California youth.

Suggested Citation: Core Competencies Subcommittee of the California Adolescent Sexual Health Work Group (ASHWG) (2008). *Core Competencies for Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health.* Oakland, CA: California Adolescent Health Collaborative, Oakland. http://www.californiateenhealth.org/CC_registration.php

Contact Information: Inquiries or questions about this document can be referred to:

California Adolescent Health Collaborative 555 12th Street, 10th Floor Oakland, CA 94607 510.834.4433 ashwg@californiateenhealth.org

Table of Contents

Overview	4
Related Efforts	5
Examples of Differences	6
Application	7
Guiding Principles	8
A. Professional and Legal Role	9
B. Adolescent Development	10
C. Youth Centered Approach and Youth Culture	11
D. Sexual and Reproductive Health	12
E. Pregnancy, STIs, and HIV	13
Core Competencies Subcommittee	14
Panel of External Reviewers	14
Panel of National Expert Reviewers	15

Overview

The Core Competencies herein are specifically intended for adult providers and educators of adolescent sexual and reproductive health, and represent the foundation of professional capabilities that all providers should strive to possess in order to deliver effective, sensitive, and appropriate sexual and reproductive health programs and services to adolescents.

It is our hope that every provider of adolescent sexual and reproductive health programs/services will possess, or strive to possess, at least a minimum degree of proficiency in each of the Core Competencies.

Programs and agencies might use the Core Competencies to:

- guide the hiring, training, development, and evaluation of staff,
- increase collaboration and cross training between agencies,
- · support consistent health outcomes for adolescents,
- ensure that all programs are grounded in a shared body of knowledge and skills.

A variety of agencies and programs address the sexual health needs of adolescents in California. Programs may target sex education, pregnancy prevention, prenatal care, sexually transmitted infections (STI¹), and HIV prevention, or relational issues. The staff and professionals who interact with youth include health clinic workers, test counselors, classroom teachers, case managers, clinicians, community educators, and health outreach workers, to name a few.

To best meet the sexual health needs of adolescents who may be involved in two or more different categorical program/services, a coordinated approach based upon commonly-shared knowledge and skills must be undertaken. Additionally, a solid foundation in adolescent development, human sexuality, and youth-centered approaches will help ensure that educational and prevention efforts are appropriate, consistent, and mutually supportive.

The Core Competencies are not meant to satisfy the entire skill set necessary for specific roles or jobs within the different fields or disciplines involved in adolescent sexual and reproductive health. For example, staff working in a particular discipline (i.e., HIV, STI, or contraception), will require special knowledge and skills over and above those included in this document. However, the Core Competencies do outline an essential set of knowledge and skills that all adolescent providers, regardless of discipline or specialty area, need to know about adolescent sexuality, pregnancy/contraception, HIV, and STIs so that interactions with teens are effective and consistent, and appropriate referrals can be made. As such, the Core Competencies are intended to be *mutually inclusive*, that is for example; the Professional and Legal domain applies to all other sections, and vice versa.

The Core Competencies are not intended as requirements or mandates binding a program or an agency to particular standards. They do not represent a curriculum or outline of topics/issues to be taught to adolescents. Rather they are intended as an interdisciplinary guide for providers to be used across various programs and service settings to enhance the level of service delivery and to improve continuity and consistency.

¹ The acronym STI is used for the sake of consistency and convention within this document, and does not reflect a preference over use of the more traditional acronym, STD. For more information about the use STI and STD, go to http://www.ashastd.org/learn/learn_statistics_vs.cfm

Related Efforts

ASHWG's Core Competencies For Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health are consistent with and supportive of the Program Collaboration and Service Integration (PCSI) initiative launched recently by Dr. Kevin Fenton, Director of the National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).

The success of PCSI depends on consistency and continuity of staff capability across different programs. Consistency and capability of staff across HIV, Hepatitis, STD, and TB programs can be achieved through the use of competency-based training and staff development activities – <u>because</u> the competencies will focus on **essential** knowledge and skill sets that must be shared among the staff from different programs – that is, <u>CORE</u> knowledge and skills.

This is part of the rationale for Dr. Fenton's PCSI Initiative as well as other national efforts that recognize the critical importance of developing competency-based training and curricula as a foundation for cross-training as a means to accomplish program collaboration and service integration. For more information on Dr. Fenton's PCSI initiative, go to www.cdc.gov/nchhstp.

Some of the other notable national efforts to define core competencies for public health staff include:

- Council on Linkages between Academia and Public Health Practice
 Core Competencies for Public Health Professionals www.phf.org/competencies.htm The Council on Linkages between Academia and Public Health Practice has worked hand-in-hand with CDC, National Association of County and City Health Officers (NACCHO), the American Public Health Association (APHA), and other national organizations to develop core competencies for public health professionals.
- Competencies for Applied Epidemiologists in Governmental Public Health Agencies Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists www.cste.org/competencies.asp
- QUAD Council Public Health Nursing Competencies
 QUAD Council of Public Health Nursing Organizations, 4/3/2003
 www.astdn.org/publications.htm

The competencies developed by these organizations are profession-specific. ASHWG's **Core Competencies** are similar, but somewhat different in that they address several professions and job types involved in direct contact with adolescents in the delivery of adolescent sexual and reproductive health. Thus the competencies herein are focused on the knowledge and skill sets needed to appropriately address a *specific* health sphere (sexual and reproductive health) of a *specific* population group (adolescents). As such, the ASHWG Core Competencies identify the fundamental knowledge and skills sets <u>shared</u> by *different* professions and job types as a starting point for addressing adolescent sexual and reproductive health.

Examples of Differences

Between Core, Role, and Job-Specific Competencies For Providers of Sexual and Reproductive Health Programs and Services

The Core Competencies are intended to apply to all staff and professionals who interact with youth, including health clinic workers, test counselors, case managers, clinicians, classroom teachers, community educators, and health outreach workers, to name a few. As *core* competencies, they are intended to apply to staff <u>below</u> the level and specifications of a particular job or role (i.e., counselor, educator, clinician, etc.). Job-specific and role-specific competencies would be at a level <u>above</u> the core competencies and would vary by topic and organizational setting.

Job-Specific	Nurse: For example, nurses in specified jobs such as a Family Plan- ning NP or an RN in an HIV clinic.	Physician: For example, doctors in specified jobs such as a doctor in an STI clinic or a doctor provid- ing family planning ser- vices.	Counselor: For example, counselors in specific jobs such as an HIV coun- selor, a STI coun- selor, or a contraceptive counselor.	Health Educator: For example, health educators in specific jobs or agencies, such as a CBO edu- cator or a health department health educator.	Teacher: For example, public school teachers who teach certain grade levels or certain sub- ject areas, such as a high school health teacher or a middle school sci- ence teacher.	
Role-Specific	Clinician: Common to all of HIV, and Family ics, but different ors and educate	Planning clin- from counsel-		counselors (HIV, STI, etc), but different from ducators.	Educator/ Teacher Common to all Educators/ Teachers, but distinct from counselors and clinicians.	
Core	The fundamental set of knowledge, skills, abilities, and perspectives that are basic to providers who interface with adolescents on matters of sexual and reproductive healt					

Application

The Core Competencies can be adapted and used by administrators, managers, trainers, and supervisors across various programs of adolescent sexual and reproductive health in several ways:

Recruiting and Hiring Staff: The Core Competencies can be used to write job descriptions, target the recruitment of applicants, guide the development of interview questions, and help to determine the suitability and skill level of potential applicants.

Self Assessment: Adolescent sexual health providers can adapt the competencies to measure personal and professional growth. Creating a scoring rubric allows the educator to use the competencies to measure progress in a wide range of skills and set goals for increasing knowledge and skill level.

Staff Development and Training: When designing professional development, the Core Competencies can serve as a needs assessment to determine the most important or needed knowledge and skills to be targeted for orientations, in-services, or training. Based on assessment results, they can guide the development of training objectives and activities, and be used to evaluate the effectiveness of training or staff development activities.

Performance Appraisal: Supervisors can apply a scoring rubric to the list of competencies so that staff self-assessment can be compared with the supervisor's evaluation of performance. This will allow the supervisor to set performance goals, monitor the progress of staff, and/or to develop work plans for areas needing improvement.

Inter-Program Collaboration: The competencies can facilitate coordination and collaboration between programs by prioritizing the knowledge and skills necessary for effective implementation and by ensuring quality and consistency within similar job functions across programs and disciplines.

Guiding Principles and Assumptions

The Core Competencies Subcommittee of the Adolescent Sexual Health Work Group (ASHWG) agreed on the following principles and assumptions in creating this document:

- 1. All people deserve to be treated with dignity and respect.
- 2. Sexuality is a critical dimension of adolescent development.
- 3. Sexuality and sexual behavior are defined and shaped by genetics, culture, tradition, race/ethnicity, societal expectations, socio-economic environment, spirituality, and religion.
- 4. Healthy sexuality is more than reproductive health or the avoidance of HIV, STIs, and unintended pregnancy.
- 5. Sexual relationships should never be coercive or exploitative.

The Core Competencies are divided into five major domains:

- A. Professional and Legal Role
- B. Adolescent Development
- C. Youth-centered Approach and Youth Culture
- D. Sexual and Reproductive Health
- E. Pregnancy STIs HIV

Each major domain may be further categorized into two sub-domains regarding:

- 1. Cognitive sub-domain, what a provider should know
- 2. Operative sub-domain, what a provider should be able to do

A: Professional and Legal Role

Effective providers and educators have appropriate personal and professional boundaries when speaking to adolescents about sexuality. Awareness of personal boundaries requires an examination and understanding of personal beliefs, values, feelings and biases. Professional boundaries include knowledge of the legal and ethical considerations that guide interactions with youth. The maintenance of personal and professional boundaries is essential to avoid exerting undue influence on the developing adolescent.

A:1	Demonstrates a desire to work with young people.	
A:2	Identifies and continues to clarify his/her own personal values, beliefs, biases, stereotypes, and feelings related to sexuality, and specifically adolescent sexuality.	•
A:3	Conducts interactions with youth without emphasizing personal information and history, attitudes, values, beliefs, feelings, or religion.	
A:4	Takes a non-judgmental approach when dealing with attitudes, behaviors, beliefs, or cultures at variance with his/her personal beliefs or convictions – especially as they relate to adolescents and adolescent sexuality.	OP
A:5	Demonstrates confidence and comfort when discussing topics related to adolescent sexuality.	OPERATIVE
A:6	Complies with the specific legal rights for California adolescents obtaining sexual and reproductive health services (i.e., birth control, STI treatment, HIV testing, etc.), such as confidentiality, minor consent to services without parental notification, access to care and treatment, and the safe surrender law.	
A:7	Adheres to the provider's legal and ethical responsibilities regarding adolescent sexual health, including: reporting coercive and/or abusive sex, disclosure, confidentiality, sexual responsibility, and the safe surrender law.	SUB-DOMAIN
A:8	Complies with the job-specific professional limits and expectations as a provider of sexual or reproductive health services to adolescents.	AN
A:9	Adheres to the policies and procedures of the employing organization, program, local community, and law enforcement.	
A:10	Demonstrates openness to receiving feedback from clients, colleagues, mentors and supervisors.	
A:11	Collaborates with colleagues and agencies in the delivery of adolescent sexual and reproductive health programs and services.	

B: Adolescent Development

Sexual and reproductive health education is grounded in an understanding of adolescent development. Sexuality is an integral part of the adolescent's cognitive, psychological, social, emotional and physical development and should be understood within this larger context.

B:1	Summarizes the cognitive, psychological, social, emotional, and physical dimensions of adolescent sexual development.	00
B:2	Summarizes the key theories/models of behavior change as they apply to adolescents.	COGNITIVE
B:3	Describes the importance of gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, and gender expression in the development of sexual identity in youth.	• • •
B:4	Explains how race, ethnicity, genetics, spirituality, religion, and culture influence the development of sexual identity.	SUB-DOMAIN
B:5	Explains how developmental stages, perception of time, and worldview are often different for adolescents than for adults.	AMOC
B:6	Explains the role of experimentation and risk-taking in the ongoing development of adolescence, including sexual behavior.	Z

B:7	Communicates that healthy sexuality is more than the avoidance of risk.	OPI
B:8	Explains how sexual health and decision-making can involve the interplay of knowledge attitudes, experiences, and context with various social determinants of health, (e.g. social and economic inequities, disempowerment etc.) and psychological state.	OPERATIVE S
B:9	Explains the boundaries, levels of intimacy, and dynamics of healthy adolescent relationships with peers and family.	SUB-DOMAIN
B:10	Identifies the indicators and/or warning signs of unhealthy adolescent risk-taking.	MAIN

C: Youth-Centered Approach and Youth Culture

The influence of peers and youth culture is critical to understanding the sexual behaviors and relationships of adolescents. The competencies in this section reflect current trends in youth development that emphasize respect for youth and approaches that identify and build upon the strength of each individual, while avoiding use of fear-based messages to motivate behavior.

C:1	Explains the contexts and factors that can influence sexual behaviors and relationships (e.g., pleasure, gender roles, socio-economic environment, power dynamics, sexual coercion, date rape, peer pressure, survival sex, alcohol/drugs).	VILINBOO
C:2	Describes how technologies (e.g., cell phones, internet, text messaging) can impact on adolescent communication, relationships, dating patterns, bullying and harassment, sexual values and norms.	E SUB-DO
C:3	Explains how the media's portrayal of sexuality can impact youth and youth culture.	DOMAIN

C:4	Treats all youth with respect and positive regard.	
C:5	Adopts an asset/strength-based approach when interacting with youth, that is, the belief that all youth have strengths that can be built on.	OPERATIVE
C:6	Applies the principles of resiliency, personal responsibility, and self-reliance to empower youth.	
C:7	Encourages young people to build connections to family and community and to find appropriate places/ways to get emotional support.	SUB-DOMAIN
C:8	Avoids the use of authoritarian, shame, and fear based tactics to motivate youth.	OMAIN
C:9	Avoids the use of labels when discussing sexuality and sexual behaviors with youth.	

D: Sexual and Reproductive Health

These competencies outline a knowledge and skill set for the **provider** and are <u>not</u> necessarily taught to youth. The goals of sexual and reproductive health education go far beyond the prevention of infection or unintended pregnancy. Understanding the wide range of sexual and non-sexual relationships in which adolescents may be involved, will guide them toward healthy attitudes and behaviors. All communication with adolescents needs to be developmentally appropriate.

D:1 Summarizes the stages of sexual development over the life span: prenatal, infancy, early and middle childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. D:2 Summarizes the anatomical, physiological, and psychological changes that take place during puberty. D:3 Describes the physiology and range of the human sexual response. D:4 Summarizes the psychosocial and environmental factors that impact sexual and reproductive health. D:5 Explains the concept of reproductive life planning, i.e. the importance of careful planning for intended pregnancy and parenthood and the importance of achieving good health during adolescence in order to ensure optimal reproductive potential in the future. D:6 Explains the meaning of gender; gender identity; gender presentation; sexual orientation; transgender, assigned sex, and intersex individuals. D:7 Summarizes the range of appropriate and inappropriate non-sexual and sexual relationships in which adolescents may be involved. D:8 Explains the impact and consequences of bullying, harassment, and abuse (sexual, physical, and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. D:10 Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors. D:10 Uses medically accurate* terminology related to the anatomy and physiology of sexual organs, sexual behaviors, pregnancy, sexually transmitted infections, and HIV, and clarifies unfamiliar terms used by adolescents. D:10 Explains how alcohol and other drug use/abuse can influence sexual decision-making and sexual behavior.			
D:3 Describes the physiology and range of the human sexual response. D:4 Summarizes the psychosocial and environmental factors that impact sexual and reproductive health. D:5 Explains the concept of reproductive life planning, i.e. the importance of careful planning for intended pregnancy and parenthood and the importance of achieving good health during adolescence in order to ensure optimal reproductive potential in the future. D:6 Explains the meaning of gender; gender identity; gender presentation; sexual orientation; transgender, assigned sex, and intersex individuals. D:7 Summarizes the range of appropriate and inappropriate non-sexual and sexual relationships in which adolescents may be involved. D:8 Explains the impact and consequences of bullying, harassment, and abuse (sexual, physical, and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. D:10 Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:1		
D:4 Summarizes the psychosocial and environmental factors that impact sexual and reproductive health. D:5 Explains the concept of reproductive life planning, i.e. the importance of careful planning for intended pregnancy and parenthood and the importance of achieving good health during adolescence in order to ensure optimal reproductive potential in the future. D:6 Explains the meaning of gender; gender identity; gender presentation; sexual orientation; transgender, assigned sex, and intersex individuals. D:7 Summarizes the range of appropriate and inappropriate non-sexual and sexual relationships in which adolescents may be involved. D:8 Explains the impact and consequences of bullying, harassment, and abuse (sexual, physical, and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:2		
D:6 Explains the meaning of gender; gender identity; gender presentation; sexual orientation; transgender, assigned sex, and intersex individuals. D:7 Summarizes the range of appropriate and inappropriate non-sexual and sexual relationships in which adolescents may be involved. D:8 Explains the impact and consequences of bullying, harassment, and abuse (sexual, physical, and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:3	Describes the physiology and range of the human sexual response.	
D:6 Explains the meaning of gender; gender identity; gender presentation; sexual orientation; transgender, assigned sex, and intersex individuals. D:7 Summarizes the range of appropriate and inappropriate non-sexual and sexual relationships in which adolescents may be involved. D:8 Explains the impact and consequences of bullying, harassment, and abuse (sexual, physical, and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:4		COGN
D:8 Explains the impact and consequences of bullying, harassment, and abuse (sexual, physical, and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:5	intended pregnancy and parenthood and the importance of achieving good health during ado-	
D:8 Explains the impact and consequences of bullying, harassment, and abuse (sexual, physical, and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:6		JB-DO
and emotional) on adolescent development and sexual and reproductive health. D:9 Emphasizes the importance of sexual and reproductive health care for adolescents with a focus on reproductive life planning. Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:7		MAIN
focus on reproductive life planning. Discusses sexual information and behaviors in a manner that is developmentally-appropriate using non-technical understandable language without labeling people and/or behaviors.	D:8	'	
	D:9		OPEF
Uses medically accurate* terminology related to the anatomy and physiology of sexual organs, sexual behaviors, pregnancy, sexually transmitted infections, and HIV, and clarifies unfamiliar terms used by adolescents. D:12 Explains how alcohol and other drug use/abuse can influence sexual decision-making and sexual behavior.	D:10		
D:12 Explains how alcohol and other drug use/abuse can influence sexual decision-making and sexual behavior.	D:11	gans, sexual behaviors, pregnancy, sexually transmitted infections, and HIV, and clarifies	SUB-DO
	D:12		NIAM

^{*}medically accurate – means verified or supported by research conducted in compliance with scientific methods and published in peer-reviewed journals, where appropriate, and recognized as accurate and objective by professional organizations and agencies with expertise in the relevant field, such as the federal Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the American Public Health Association, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists.

E: Pregnancy — STIs – HIV

The area-specific topics included here highlight the critical need for all providers and educators in adolescent sexual and reproductive health to have a basic understanding of the behaviors, risks, consequences, and prevention methods in these three topic areas. Providers specializing in one area would require more comprehensive knowledge and skill beyond what is highlighted here.

E:1	Explains the common behavioral factors often linking adolescent health issues; including unintended pregnancy, STIs, HIV infection, alcohol/drug use, and intimate partner violence.	22
E:2	Summarizes the fundamental facts of hormonal and barrier methods of contraception, including: mechanism of action, effectiveness, benefits/risks, how to obtain contraception and emergency contraception, and which methods do not provide protection against STI or HIV infection.	COGNITIVE
E:3	Summarizes the fundamental facts on STIs, including: transmission, signs and symptoms, complications/consequences, the range of risk elimination (abstinence, Hepatitis A & B vaccines), and risk reduction options (condoms, HPV vaccines), the importance of STI testing if sexually active, and how STIs increase the risk for HIV transmission and infection.	SUB-DOMAIN
E:4	Summarizes the fundamental facts on HIV; including transmission, the spectrum of HIV disease and opportunistic infections, risk reduction, HIV testing options, and how HIV affects the immune system.	MAIN
E:5	Keeps updated on current, medically accurate* information on pregnancy prevention, STIs, and HIV, including local and state data on disease trends, through credible web sites, periodicals, journals, news reports, and workshops.	유
E:6	Explains the potential physical, emotional, economic, and social consequences of unintended pregnancy, STI infection, and HIV infection on adolescents.	ERAT
E:7	Discusses the current, medically accurate data on the effectiveness of condoms for reducing the chances of pregnancy and transmission of STIs and HIV.	IVE SUI
E:7		IVE SUB-DO
	the chances of pregnancy and transmission of STIs and HIV. Discusses the importance of prenatal care and STI testing to sexually-experienced adoles-	OPERATIVE SUB-DOMAIN

^{*} medically accurate – see previous page

Core Competencies Subcommittee

(CA Adolescent Sexual Health Work Group)

- Anita Aguirre, California Family Health Council
- Ben Bartos, California School Board Association
- Sharon Dolan, former Executive Director of Health Initiatives for Youth (HIFY)
- John Elfers, San Luis Obispo County Office of Education
- Marsha Gelt, Center for Health Training
- Sandi Goldstein, California Adolescent Health Collaborative
- Paul Gibson, STD Control Branch, California Department of Public Health
- Dorith Hertz, Office of AIDS, California Department of Public Health
- Rosanna Jackson. Office of Family Planning, California Department of Public Health
- Erica Monasterio, UCSF Division of Adolescent Medicine
- Sharla Smith, School Health Connections Office, California Department of Education
- Kay Todd, ETR Associates
- Ed Wolfe, Formerly UCSF AIDS Health Project, Consultant to the Office of AIDS, California Department of Public Health
- Ron Valenti, Kern High School District, Bakersfield
- Candice Zimmerman, Maternal Child and Adolescent Health Branch, California Department of Public Health

Panel of External Reviewers

- Michael Baxter, Balboa Teen Health Center, San Francisco Dept. of Public Health
- Laurie Bechhofer, Michigan Department of Education
- Chris Berry, California Department of Education Consultant
- Julie Boudreau, ETR Associates
- Ariel Ciemenzi-Allen, Health Initiatives for Youth, San Francisco
- Linda Creegan, California STD/HIV Prevention Training Center
- Alice Gandelman, STD Control Branch, California Department of Public Health
- Benjamin Ignalino, Jr., Family Health Centers of San Diego
- Bill Jones, Principal, Ridgeview High School
- Linda Kearns, Orange County Department of Education
- Polly Paulson, UC Davis, Student Health Center

- Mauricio Pérez, La Clínica de La Raza, Oakland
- Raleigh Philp, Adjunct Professor, Pepperdine University
- Caroline Roberts, California Department of Education
- Ricki Rosales, City of Los Angeles, AIDS Coordinator
- Dania Sacks March, Huckleberry Cole Street Clinic (San Francisco)
- Marlo Simmons, San Francisco Department of Public Health
- Stacy Vogan, California STD/HIV Prevention Training Center

Panel of National Expert Reviewers

- Claire Brindis, Dr.P.H., Interim Director, Philip R. Lee Institute for Health Policy Studies, University of California-San Francisco
- Mary-Ann Shafer, M.D., Professor of Pediatrics, Division of Adolescent Health, University of California-San Francisco
- Jonathan Ellen, M.D., Associate Professor of Pediatrics, Johns Hopkins University
- Stephen T. Russell, Ph.D., Director, Frances McClelland Institute for Children, Youth, & Families, University of Arizona
- Doug Kirby, Ph.D., Senior Research Scientist, ETR Associates
- Monica Rodriquez, M.S., Vice President for Education and Training, SIECUS
- Kim Robert Clark, Dr.P.H., Associate Professor of Health Science and Human Ecology, California State University-San Bernardino
- Nora Gelperin, M.Ed., Director of Training and Education, Answer Center for Applied Psychology, Rutgers University
- Norman A. Constantine, Ph.D., Director, Center for Research on Adolescent Health and Development, Public Health Institute, Oakland, CA
- Wayne Jacobsen, President, BridgeBuilders, Moorpark, CA